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FineTek Co., Ltd. 
2024 Annual General Meeting Agenda 

Time: 9:00 a.m., Monday, May 27, 2024 

Location: No. 4, Sanmin Rd., Tucheng Dist., New Taipei City (3F, Tucheng 

Industrial Park Service Center) 

Agenda: 

I. Calling the meeting to order (reporting the number of shares in attendance) 

II. Chairman's speech 

III. Report Matters 

(I) 2023 Business Report 

(II) 2023 Audit Committee's Review Report. 

(III) 2023 Distribution of remuneration to employees and directors. 

IV. Matters for Recognition 

(I) 2023 Business Report and Financial Statements. 

(II) Proposal for 2023 earnings distribution. 

V. Matters for discussion 

(I) Proposal for issuance of new shares for capital increase by capitalization 

of retained earnings. 

(II) Amendment to certain provisions of the Company's “Articles of 

Incorporation.” 

(III) Amendment to certain provisions of the Company's “Rules of Procedure 

for Shareholders’ Meetings.” 

(IV) Amendment to the “Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets.” 

VI. Extempore Motions 

VII. Adjournment 
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[Report Matters] 
 

I. 2023 Business Report is submitted for your review. 

Descriptions: Please refer to Page 6 of the Handbook (Attachment 1) for the 2023 

business report. 

 

II. 2023 Audit Committee's Review Report is submitted for your review. 

Description: For the 2023 Audit Committee's Review Report, please refer to Page 10 

(Attachment 2) of the Handbook. 

 

III. The proposal for distribution of 2023 remuneration to employees and directors is 

submitted for your review. 

Description: According to Article 18 of the Articles of Incorporation, no more than 3%, 

totaling NT$10,000,000, will be allocated as remuneration to directors, 

and more than 3%, totaling NT$11,000,000, as the remuneration to 

employees, all paid in cash. 
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[Matters for recognition] 
 

Motion 1 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: 2023 Business Report and Financial Statements are submitted for ratification. 

Description: 1. The Company's 2023 business report and financial statements 

(including parent company only and consolidated financial 

statements) have been audited by the Audit Committee and approved 

per resolution by the Board of Directors. The 2023 financial 

statements have been audited by Liang Sheng-Tai, CPA and Chen 

Chao-Mei, CPA of Deloitte Taiwan. 

2. Please refer to Page 6 (Attachment 1) and Page 11 (Attachment 3) of 

the Handbook for the 2023 business report and financial statements. 

3. Submitted for ratification. 

Resolution: 

 

Motion 2 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: Please ratify the proposal for 2023 earnings distribution. 

Description: 1. The Company's 2023 distributable earnings amounted to 

NT$568,675,359. Distribution of cash dividends, NT$219,155,884, 

and stock dividends, NT$10,957,794, was proposed. The 

accumulated undistributed earnings at the end of the period was 

NT$338,561,681. Please refer to the 2023 earnings distribution table 

Please refer to Page 31 of the Handbook (Attachment 4) for the 2023 

earnings distribution statement. 

2. The distributed cash dividends totaled NT$219,155,884, with NT$4 

distributed per share. The distributed stock dividends totaled 

NT$10,957,794, capitalized for the issuance of 1,095,779 new shares 

through capital increase. It is expected that the stock dividend, 20 

shares, will be distributed as the bonus shares per 1,000 shares. The 

cash dividends distributed to each shareholder are rounded up to the 

nearest NTD. Fractions less than a full NT$1 shall be summed up and 

recognized by the Company as other income. 

3. If the number of outstanding shares is affected by the execution of 

employee stock options, repurchase of treasury shares or transfer of 

treasury shares, thereby resulting in changes in the payout ratio and 

the need to modify the dividend distribution ratio, the Chairman is 

authorized to handle the matter. 

4. The Chairman is authorized to set the ex-dividend date and other 

related matters after the proposal is approved by the annual general 

meeting. 

Resolution:  
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[Matters for discussion] 

 
Motion 1 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: The proposal for issuance of new shares for capital increase by capitalization 

of retained earnings is submitted for discussion. 

Descriptions: 1. In order to supplement the working capital, the Company plans to 

appropriate NT$10,957,794 from the 2023 accumulated distributable 

earnings for issuance of 1,095,779 new shares through capital 

increase by capitalization of the retained earnings. For the fraction 

amount less than 1 share, the NT$4 should be distributed in cash. Said 

new shares are calculated at NT$10 per share. In consideration of the 

Company’s 54,788,971 outstanding shares, it is expected that the 

stock dividend, 20 shares, may be distributed per 1,000 shares. The 

shareholders may combine the fractional stock less than one share 

upon the distribution voluntarily within 5 days following the book 

closure date. The fractional stock less than one share after the 

combination shall be converted to cash truncated to the nearest dollar, 

and subscribed for by the specific persons contacted by the Chairman. 

As the Company's shares are duly issued in an intangible form 

pursuant to laws, and in response to the registration with the Taiwan 

Depository and Clearing Corporation and book-entry transfer, the 

payment for the fractional stock less than one share is used to cover 

the book-less appropriation and other necessary expenses. 

2. If the number of outstanding shares is affected by the execution of 

employee stock options, repurchase of treasury shares or transfer of 

treasury shares, thereby resulting in changes in the payout ratio and 

the need to modify the dividend distribution ratio, or due to changes 

in laws, authorization by the competent authority or any other matters 

not covered herein, the Chairman is authorized to handle the matter. 

3. The rights and obligations of the new shares are the same as those of 

the shares issued originally. 

4. After the motion is approved by the annual general meeting, the Board 

of Directors is authorized to set the dividend record date. 

Resolution: 

 

Motion 2 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: Please kindly discuss the amendments to the “Articles of Incorporation.” 

Description: The Company plans to amend certain provisions of the Company's 

“Articles of Incorporation” in response to the Company's operational and 

management needs. For the Comparison Table of Articles before and 

after the amendment, please refer to Page 32 (Attachment 5) of the 

Handbook. 

Resolution: 
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Motion 3 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: Please kindly discuss the amendment to the “Rules of Procedure for 

Shareholders' Meetings.” 

Description: The Company plans to amend certain provisions of its Company's “Rules 

of Procedure for Shareholders' Meetings” in response to amendments to 

laws and regulations. For the Comparison Table of the Rules before and 

after the amendment, please refer to Page 34 (Attachment 6) of the 

Handbook.  

Resolution: 

 

 

Motion 4 (Proposed by the Board of Directors) 

Cause: Please kindly discuss the amendments to the Company’s “Procedures for 

Acquisition or Disposal of Assets.” 

Description: The Company plans to amend certain provisions of the Company's 

“Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets” in response to 

amendments to laws and regulations. For the Comparison Table of the 

Procedures before and after the amendment, please refer to Page 36 

(Attachment 7) of the Handbook.  

Resolution: 

 

 

[Extempore Motion] 

[Adjournment] 
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[Attachment 1] 
FineTek Co., Ltd. 

2023 Business Report 

I. 2023 Business results 
(I) Business plan implementation results 

The Company's operating revenue was NT$930,576 thousand in 2023, a 

decrease by 16% from NT$1,114,162 thousand in 2022. The Group's consolidated 

operating revenue was NT$1,367,401 thousand, a decrease by 5% from 

NT$1,433,036 thousand in 2022. The Company's profit after tax was NT$267,838 

thousand in 2023, a decrease by 17% from NT$324,438 thousand in 2022, and the 

earnings per share was NT$4.89. The decrease in the revenue in 2023 from 2022 was 

mainly due to the impact of the economy in Mainland China resulting in the decrease 

in revenue contribution, as well as customers’ destock resulting in the decrease in 

orders. The decrease in profit in 2023 was mainly due to the adjustment of product 

portfolio and the absence of participation in large-scale government projects in 2023. 

Looking forward to 2024, the Group's growth momentum will come from smart 

buildings, water treatment, ESG zero-carbon monitoring opportunities, AI immersion 

cooling system, semi-conductor and PCB machinery and equipment, etc. The 

Company’s sales performance is expected to reach a new record again. 

 

(II) Financial revenue and expenditure, and profitability 

Item 2023 2022 

Financial 

Structure (%) 

Liability to asset ratio 20.10 24.74 

Ratio of long-term capital to 

property, plant and 

equipment 

267.13 263.98 

Solvency (%) 
Current ratio 544.68 437.12 

Quick ratio 440.66 349.53 

Profitability 

Returns on assets (ROA) (%) 12.08 15.04 

Return on equity (ROE) (%) 15.40 20.10 

Net profit margin (%) 19.59 22.64 

EBT to paid-in capital ratio 

(%) 
63.94 81.55 

Earnings per share (NT$) 4.89 5.93 

Note: The earnings per share for 2022 have been adjusted retrospectively. 

 

 

(III) Research and development 

The Company invested NT$68,537 thousand in R&D in 2023, which were 

mainly used for the development and design of new products and technologies, and 

the upgrade and improvement of production processes. 
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II. Business policy and future development strategies 
(I) Business policy 

The Company produces sensors for physical quantities, liquid level, flow, 

pressure, temperature and other physical quantity sensors, as well as industrial 

process safety protection equipment, by upholding its core values for “providing 

solutions expected by customers.” Since 1999, the Company has expanded its 

service locations at home and abroad to serve customer bases with related needs and 

provide more and better programs, in order to help achieve customers’ expectations 

through the Company's innovative thinking and more excellent products for sharing 

and co-prosperity with customers. 

Since 2019, the Company has continued to promote lean management and 

process automation production systems, and implemented quantitative management 

of the expenses and performance of each department to improve production 

efficiency and quality stability. Tucheng Plant No. 2 was successfully launched in 

2021, successfully completing the Systematic expansion of the production process. 

From 2022 to 2024, the implementation of production visualization and intelligent 

digital management helped improve the production management performance 

significantly. 

Meanwhile, in order to provide comprehensive services to customers around 

the world, the Company continues to develop a global footprint. Its headquarters 

and subsidiaries, and global distribution network are seamlessly connected through 

online meetings, breaking through limitations and building an impregnable 

international value chain and continuous growth momentum for sustainable 

development, so as to lay the foundation for growth. 

(II) Future development strategies 

1. R&D strategy 

(1) Implementing the R&D projects into PLM management, controlling the 

project schedule, improving R&D performance, and prioritizing projects 

through business opportunity evaluation, in order to access the market to 

research and development profitable products as the first priority, optimize 

products into digital and mini ones with wireless communication function and 

improve gross profit and competitiveness. 

(2) Independent R&D of key components to reduce costs, accelerate product 

delivery schedule, and increase profits. 

(3) The R&D modules are integrated into a customer reference board to improve 

the sharing and compatibility of software and firmware, and speed up the 

R&D process and success rate. The Company is expected to launch several 

new products this year, which may be applied to AI, semiconductor, electronic 

technology and other industrial fields. 

2. Business strategy 

(1) Establish a project tracking team for the highly-growing electronic industry 

such as AI, semiconductor, and PCBA technology, and promote products and 

high value-added services for the industry. 

(2) Conduct inventory taking of VIP customers and Grade-A, Grade-B and 

Grade-C customers, provide better services to quality customers, and use 

product package sales to improve sales performance. 
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(3) Continue to communicate with key foreign customers via video conference 

to meet customer needs and conduct new product education and training to 

increase the operating revenue. 

3. Production strategy 

(1) Continue to implement the VSM lean production management, reduce 

inventory, and promote production line process automation and visual 

management to improve production efficiency. 

(2) Promote the supply chain inventory and inventory age management, global 

cross-factory production allocation, supply chain inventory taking, execute 

annual raw material contracts, and procurement in the spot market to meet 

short-term needs and improve market competitiveness. 

III. Effect of external competition, legal environment, and overall 

business environment 
Although the supply and demand in the manufacturing industry have gradually 

recovered recently, due to global inflation and economic uncertainty, most 

enterprises are facing internal and external factors, such as shortage of technical 

talents and increasing supply chain risks. In the future, the factors including 

geopolitical and climate change risks will continue to affect the Company. The 

Company established the Sustainable Development Committee in 2021, by 

upholding the key to core management, namely sustainability, including: 

1. Environment: 

⚫ Conduct interview via phone in replace of personal interview to reduce 

the frequency for using cars and mitigate environmental pollution and 

fuel consumption. Interact with customers via video conference, 

presentation, and e-news; improve the expertise through sharing of 

experience; complete transactions despite fewer visits paid to customers. 

⚫ Improve packaging, share packaging materials, and reduce the 

consumption of packaging materials to protect the earth. 

2. Employees: 

⚫ Increase employee benefits by subsidizing food expenses, providing 

childcare allowances, and providing elderly, disabled, and 

disadvantaged employees with home support. 

⚫ Internal talent training and grant promotion opportunities based on 

competence and skills. 

⚫ The Company distributes bonus and stock dividends to employees, 

quantifies employees’ efficiency, and adopts performance and 

contribution as the basis for rewards and raise. 

3. Operations: 

⚫ Monitor the Company's risks at any time and adjust flexibly; judge 

online shopping or the placement of long-term orders to stabilize the 

supply of goods, increase the number of suppliers, and avoid business 

crises. 

⚫ Implement the digital transformation, quantify the Group’s internal 

information for management, and build a smart factory. 

⚫ Combine the application needs on the market, verify the pulse of the 
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market, extend the technology of existing products and new industry 

applications, and increase the utilization of products in depth and 

breadth. 

4. Society: 

⚫ The Company regularly organizes public welfare activities to assist 

disadvantaged groups, adopt public welfare groups, and maintain 

cultural and historical sites. 

⚫ Open the group visits to factories for outsiders to share successful 

experiences with the public. 

⚫ Engage in the industry-academia collaboration to provide learning 

opportunities for talent cultivation. 

 

Based on said business strategies, the Company expects to continue generating 

operating revenue and share more remarkable profits with all shareholders. Thank all 

of you for your long-term support and encouragement, and wish all of you good health 

and all the best. 
 

 

 

 

Chairman: Wu Ching-Teh Manager: Wu Ting-Kuo Accounting Manager: 

Wang Hsiao-Chun 
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[Attachment 2] 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Audit Committee’s Review Report 
 

The Board of Directors has prepared the Company's 2023 business 

report, financial statements and earnings distribution proposal. Among them, 

the financial statements have been audited by Liang Sheng-Tai, CPA and 

Chen Chao-Mei, CPA of Deloitte Taiwan and an external auditor’s report was 

issued. 

Said business report, financial statements and earnings distribution 

proposal have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and found no 

nonconformity. Therefore, the above report is submitted in accordance with 

Article 14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the 

Company Act. 

 

Please review it accordingly. 

 

To:  

FineTek Co., Ltd. Shareholders' Meeting 
 

 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Convener of the Audit Committee: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  March 11, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of FineTek Co., Ltd. (the 

“Company”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the 

statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then 

ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy 

(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its financial 

performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Financial Statement 

Audit and Attestation Engagements of Certified Public Accountants and the Standards on 

Auditing of the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with The Norm of 

Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the Republic of China, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. 

 

The key audit matter of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 

31, 2023 is described as follows: 

 

The Validity of Occurrence of Revenue Recognition 

 

The operating revenue of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $930,576 

thousand. Out of this amount, sales from those customers whose individual sales growth 

rates exceeded the overall sales growth rate have material influence on the financial 

statements as a whole. 

 

[Attachment 3-1] Financial Statements 
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To meet shareholders’ and external investors’ expectations, the management of the Company 

may be under pressure to meet the profit target. Therefore, we assessed that the main risk of 

revenue recognition from the aforementioned company of customers is the validity of 

occurrence of sales transactions from such customers, and we identified this as the key audit 

matter. Refer to Note 4(k) in the financial statements for the accounting policies related to 

revenue recognition and Note 22 for the disclosures of the operating revenues. 

 

The audit procedures that we performed with respect to the sales revenue from the 

aforementioned customers are as follows: 

 

1. We obtained an understanding of the internal controls related to the sales revenue from 

the aforementioned customers for the year ended December 31, 2023, evaluated the 

design of the key controls and tested the operating effectiveness of the controls. 

 

2. We obtained the list of the aforementioned customers for the year ended December 31, 

2023 and assessed that their backgrounds, transaction amounts and credit limits granted 

were reasonable and consistent with their scale. 

 

3. We selected samples of sales transactions for the year ended December 31,2023 from 

the aforementioned customers and checked the details of the external shipping 

documents and also for any abnormalities in the transaction terms and collection of 

receivables, and we confirmed that sales were valid and did occur. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 

Reports by Securities Issuers, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 

intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 

do so. 

 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for 

overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 

of the Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit. We also: 

 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 

entities or business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2023, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 

or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
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communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are 

Sheng Tai Liang and Chao Mei Chen. 

 

 

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche 

Taipei, Taiwan 

Republic of China 

 

March 15,2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notice to Readers 

 

The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and 

practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other 

jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such financial statements 

are those generally applied in the Republic of China. 

 

For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying 

financial statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese version 

prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English 

version and the original Chinese version or any difference in the interpretation of the two 

versions, the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and financial statements shall 

prevail. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

ASSETS  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 6)    $ 196,177     9    $ 223,105     10 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - current (Notes 4 and 7)     88,791     4     89,386     4 

Financial assets at amortized cost - current (Notes 4, 8, 9 and 31)     30,300     1     71,258     4 

Notes receivable (Notes 4, 10 and 22)     16,428     1     22,810     1 

Trade receivables (Notes 4, 10 and 22)     61,575     3     64,699     3 

Trade receivables from related parties (Notes 4, 22 and 30)     52,714     3     78,587     4 

Other receivables (Notes 4 and 10)     2,864     -     3,033     - 

Other receivables from related parties (Notes 4 and 30)     145,148     7     91,259     4 

Current tax assets (Notes 4 and 24)     -     -     4,075     - 

Inventories (Notes 4 and 11)     132,679     6     132,393     6 

Other current assets (Note 16)     2,684     -     23,013     1 

                     

Total current assets     729,360     34     803,618     37 

                     

NON-CURRENT ASSETS         

Financial assets at amortized cost - non-current (Notes 4, 8 and 9)     21,255     1     21,417     1 

Investments accounted for using the equity method (Notes 4 and 12)     718,875     33     667,129     31 

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 4, 13 and 31)     643,014     30     634,991     29 

Right-of-use assets (Notes 4 and 14)     3,821     -     182     - 

Intangible assets (Notes 4 and 15)     12,004     -     14,810     1 

Deferred tax assets (Notes 4 and 24)     26,556     1     27,654     1 

Other non-current assets (Notes 4, 16 and 20)     12,327     1     9,542     - 

                     

Total non-current assets     1,437,852     66     1,375,725     63 

                     

TOTAL    $ 2,167,212     100    $ 2,179,343     100 

         

         

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         

         

CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Contract liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 22)    $ 7,788     -    $ 19,715     1 

Notes payable (Note 18)     3,903     -     4,501     - 

Trade payables (Note 18)     59,406     3     64,626     3 

Trade payables to related parties (Note 30)     3,725     -     6,389     - 

Other payables (Note 19)     69,991     3     75,843     4 

Other payables to related parties (Note 30)     256     -     127     - 

Current tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 24)     18,935     1     40,154     2 

Lease liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 14)     805     -     115     - 

Long-term borrowings due within one year (Notes 4, 17 and 31)     15,385     1     17,047     1 

Other current liabilities     242     -     291     - 

                     

Total current liabilities     180,436     8     228,808     11 

                     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Long-term borrowings (Notes 4, 17 and 31)     161,538     8     196,040     9 

Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 24)     46,416     2     51,927     2 

Lease liabilities - non-current (Notes 4 and 14)     3,020     -     68     - 

Other non-current liabilities (Note 30)     10     -     -     - 

                     

Total non-current liabilities     210,984     10     248,035     11 

                     

    Total liabilities     391,420     18     476,843     22 

                     

EQUITY (Notes 4 and 21)         

Share capital         

Ordinary shares     547,890     25     493,595     23 

Capital surplus     326,906     15     328,267     15 

Retained earnings         

Legal reserve     305,529     14     274,173     13 

Special reserve     52,271     2     77,239     3 

Unappropriated earnings     598,673     28     588,890     27 

Other equity         

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations     (55,477)     (2)     (52,271)     (3) 

Treasury shares     -     -     (7,393)     - 

                     

Total equity     1,775,792     82     1,702,500     78 

                     

TOTAL    $ 2,167,212     100    $ 2,179,343     100 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4, 22 and 30)    $ 930,576     100    $ 1,114,162     100 

                     

OPERATING COSTS (Notes 11, 15, 23, 26 and 30)     510,204     55     590,008     53 

                     

GROSS PROFIT     420,372     45     524,154     47 

                     

UNREALIZED GAIN ON TRANSACTIONS WITH 

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 

VENTURES (Notes 4 and 30)     (24,335)     (3)     (41,962)     (4) 

                     

REALIZED GAIN ON TRANSACTIONS WITH 

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 

VENTURES (Notes 4 and 30)     41,962     5     26,267     3 

                     

REALIZED GROSS PROFIT     437,999     47     508,459     46 

                     

OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 15, 23, 26 and 30)         

Selling and marketing expenses     83,204     9     109,413     10 

General and administrative expenses     60,949     6     63,532     6 

Research and development expenses     47,858     5     56,452     5 

Expected credit loss (reversed gain) (Notes 9 and 10)     92     -     (453)     - 

                     

Total operating expenses     192,103     20     228,944     21 

                     

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS     245,896     27     279,515     25 

                     

NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

(Notes 4, 23 and 30)         

Interest income     3,339     -     2,482     - 

Other income     3,502     -     21,713     2 

Other gains and losses     23,036     3     27,347     2 

Finance costs     (3,427)     -     (3,397)     - 

Share of profit or loss of subsidiaries     57,726     6     64,805     6 

                     

Total non-operating income and expenses     84,176     9     112,950     10 

                     

PROFIT BEFORE TAX     330,072     36     392,465     35 

                     

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Notes 4 and 24)     (62,234)     (7)     (68,027)     (6) 

                     

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     267,838     29     324,438     29 

(Continued) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 
 

  2023  2022 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

                     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(Notes 4, 20, 21 and 24)         

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:         

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan     82     -     471     - 

Unrealized (loss)/gain on investments in equity 

instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income     -     -     (6,823)     (1) 

Income tax relating to items that will not be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     (16)     -     (94)     - 

     66     -     (6,446)     (1) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss:         

Exchange differences on translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations     (4,008)     (1)     25,676     2 

Income tax relating to items that may be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     802     -     (5,135)     - 

     (3,206)     (1)     20,541     2 

                     

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, 

net of income tax     (3,140)     (1)     14,095     1 

                     

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR    $ 264,698     28    $ 338,533     30 

 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 25)         

From continuing operations         

Basic    $ 4.89      $ 5.93   

Diluted    $ 4.88      $ 5.91   

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. (Concluded) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

            Other Equity     

  Share Capital    Retained Earnings  

Exchange 

Differences on 

Translation of 

Foreign Financial 

Statements of  

Unrealized 

Valuation 

Gain/(Loss) on 

Financial Assets 

at Fair Value 

Through Other     

  Ordinary Shares  Capital Surplus  Legal Reserve  Special Reserve  

Unappropriated 

Earnings  

Foreign 

Operations  

Comprehensive 

Income  Treasury Shares  Total Equity 

                   

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2022    $ 444,779    $ 327,723    $ 246,590    $ 59,645    $ 551,267    $ (72,812)    $ (4,427)    $ (27,360)    $ 1,525,405 

                                              

Appropriation of 2021 earnings (Note 21)                   

Legal reserve     -     -     27,583     -     (27,583)     -     -     -     - 

Special reserve     -     -     -     17,594     (17,594)     -     -     -     - 

Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     (181,949)     -     -     -     (181,949) 

Share dividends distributed by the Company     48,816     -     -     -     (48,816)     -     -     -     - 

                                              

Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022     -     -     -     -     324,438     -     -     -     324,438 

                                              

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022, net 

of income tax     -     -     -     -     377     20,541     (6,823)     -     14,095 

                                              

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022     -     -     -     -     324,815     20,541     (6,823)     -     338,533 

                                              

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Notes 21 and 26)     -     544     -     -     -     -     -     19,967     20,511 

                                              

Disposal of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(Note 21)     -     -     -     -     (11,250)     -     11,250     -     - 

                                              

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022     493,595     328,267     274,173     77,239     588,890     (52,271)     -     (7,393)     1,702,500 

                                              

Appropriation of 2022 earnings (Note 21)                   

Legal reserve     -     -     31,356     -     (31,356)     -     -     -     - 

Special reserve     -     -     -     (24,968)     24,968     -     -     -     - 

Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     (197,438)     -     -     -     (197,438) 

Share dividends distributed by the Company     54,295     -     -     -     (54,295)     -     -     -     - 

                                              

Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2023     -     -     -     -     267,838     -     -     -     267,838 

                                              

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023, net 

of income tax     -     -     -     -     66     (3,206)     -     -     (3,140) 

                                              

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023     -     -     -     -     267,904     (3,206)     -     -     264,698 

                                              

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Notes 21 and 26)     -     (1,361)     -     -     -     -     -     7,393     6,032 

                                              

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023    $ 547,890    $ 326,906    $ 305,529    $ 52,271    $ 598,673    $ (55,477)    $ -    $ -    $ 1,775,792 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

  2023  2022 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Income before income tax    $ 330,072    $ 392,465 

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation expense     25,019     22,522 

Amortization expense     6,051     5,347 

Expected credit loss/(gain)     257     (453) 

Net gain on fair value changes of financial asset designated as 

at fair value through profit or loss     (14,583)     (6,191) 

Finance costs     3,427     3,397 

Interest income     (3,339)     (2,482) 

Dividend income     (2,053)     (2,559) 

Compensation cost of employee share options     -     2,433 

Share of profit of subsidiaries     (57,726)     (64,805) 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment     (188)     (20) 

Inventory write-downs     2,317     - 

Unrealized gain on transactions with subsidiaries     24,335     41,962 

Realized gain on transactions with subsidiaries     (41,962)     (26,267) 

Net loss/(gain) on foreign currency exchange     2,739     (2,923) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

Financial assets mandatorily classified as at fair value through 

profit or loss     15,178     (44,865) 

Notes receivable     6,382     842 

Trade receivables     2,681     (1,783) 

Trade receivables from related parties     25,873     47,839 

Other receivables     (44)     1,114 

Other receivables from related parties     (60,087)     (90,820) 

Inventories     (2,603)     3,305 

Other current assets     9,137     1,661 

Net defined benefit assets     (292)     (349) 

Contract liabilities     (11,927)     11,168 

Notes payable     (598)     (7,333) 

Trade payables     (4,278)     (7,783) 

Trade payables to related parties     (2,664)     75 

Other payables     (3,174)     2,418 

Other payables to related parties     129     127 

Other current liabilities     (49)     69 

Cash generated from operations     248,030     278,111 

Interest received     3,552     2,366 

Dividends received     2,053     2,559 

Interest paid     (3,425)     (3,304) 

Income tax paid     (83,005)     (54,869) 

           

Net cash generated from operating activities     167,205     224,863 

           

(Continued) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

  2023  2022 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income     -     3,750 

Purchase of financial assets at amortized cost     -     (44,894) 

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at amortized cost     40,958     - 

Payments for property, plant and equipment     (31,863)     (15,693) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment     423     200 

Decrease in refundable deposits     9,878     589 

Increase in other receivables from related parties     (61)     (379) 

Payments for intangible assets     (3,514)     (3,382) 

Increase in prepayments for equipment     (4,744)     (2,833) 

Dividends received from subsidiaries (Note 12)     69,599     46,016 

           

Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities     80,676     (16,626) 

           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Repayment of long-term borrowings     (36,164)     (38,913) 

Increase in refundable deposits     10     - 

Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities     (175)     (154) 

Dividends paid to owners of the Company     (197,438)     (181,949) 

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Note 21)     6,032     18,078 

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries     (50,000)     - 

Proceeds from the capital reduction on investments accounted for 

using equity method (Note 12)     -     28,256 

           

Net cash used in financing activities     (277,735)     (174,682) 

           

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE 

BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD IN 

FOREIGN CURRENCIES     2,926     1,300 

           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS     (26,928)     34,855 

           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF 

THE YEAR     223,105     188,250 

           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 

YEAR    $ 196,177    $ 223,105 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. (Concluded) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

 

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of FineTek Co., Ltd. (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including material policy information (collectively referred to as 

the “consolidated financial statements”). 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 

accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers, and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards 

(IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued into effect 

by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Financial Statement Audit 

and Attestation Engagements of Certified Public Accountants and the Standards on Auditing of the 

Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public 

Accountant of the Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

[Attachment 3-2] Consolidated Financial Statements 
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The key audit matter of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 

31, 2023 is described as follows: 

 

The consolidated operating revenue of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 

$1,367,401 thousand. To meet shareholders’ and external investors’ expectations, the management 

of the Group may be under pressure to meet the profit target. Therefore, we assessed that the main 

risk of revenue recognition from the aforementioned group of customers is the validity of the 

occurrence of sales transactions from such customers, and we identified this as the key audit matter. 

Refer to Note 4(m) in the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies related to 

revenue recognition and Note 24 for the disclosures of operating revenues. 

 

The audit procedures that we performed with respect to the sales revenue from the aforementioned 

customers are as follows: 

 

1. We obtained an understanding of the internal controls related to the sales revenue from the 

aforementioned customers for the year ended December 31, 2023, evaluated the design of the 

key controls and tested the operating effectiveness of the controls. 

 

2. We obtained the list of the aforementioned customers for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 

assessed that their backgrounds, transaction amounts and credit limits granted were reasonable 

and consistent with their scale. 

 

3. We selected samples of sales transactions for the year ended December 31, 2023 from the 

aforementioned customers and checked the details of the external shipping documents and also 

for any abnormalities in the transaction terms and collection of receivables, and we confirmed 

that sales were valid and did occur. 

 

Other Matter 

 

We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of FineTek Co., Ltd. as of and 

for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, on which we have issued an unmodified opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 

Securities Issuers, and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting 

Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued 

into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the 

Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 

is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the 

Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. 

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

 

The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Sheng Tai 

Liang and Chao Mei Chen. 

 

 

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche 

Taipei, Taiwan 

Republic of China 

 

March 15, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Notice to Readers 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated 

financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles 

and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other jurisdictions. 

The standards, procedures and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those 

generally applied in the Republic of China.  

 

For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese 

version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English 

version and the original Chinese version or any difference in the interpretation of the two versions, 

the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and consolidated financial statements shall 

prevail. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

  2023  2022 

ASSETS  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 6)    $ 568,604     26    $ 634,809     28 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - current (Notes 4 and 7)     105,264     5     89,386     4 

Financial assets at amortized cost - current (Notes 4, 8, 9 and 33)     95,684     4     86,855     4 

Notes receivable (Notes 4, 10 and 24)     33,635     2     44,096     2 

Trade receivables (Notes 4, 10 and 24)     224,834     10     209,263     9 

Other receivables (Notes 4 and 10)     4,255     -     4,060     - 

Current tax assets (Notes 4 and 26)     5,543     -     4,632     - 

Inventories (Notes 4 and 11)     224,312     10     253,534     11 

Other current assets (Notes 4 and 18)     5,808     -     29,138     2 

                     

Total current assets     1,267,939     57     1,355,773     60 

                     

NON-CURRENT ASSETS         

Financial assets at amortized cost - non-current (Notes 4, 8 and 9)     87,419     4     44,441     2 

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 4, 13 and 33)     744,864     33     739,636     33 

Right-of-use assets (Notes 4 and 14)     12,913     1     8,630     - 

Investment properties (Notes 4 and 15)     10,646     -     12,309     1 

Goodwill (Notes 4 and 16)     37,438     2     36,104     2 

Other intangible assets (Notes 4 and 17)     20,765     1     25,797     1 

Deferred tax assets (Notes 4 and 26)     27,952     1     30,067     1 

Other non-current assets (Notes 4, 18 and 22)     12,643     1     9,645     - 

                     

Total non-current assets     954,640     43     906,629     40 

                     

TOTAL    $ 2,222,579     100    $ 2,262,402     100 

         

         

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         

         

CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Contract liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 24)    $ 17,880     1    $ 39,915     2 

Notes payable (Note 20)     3,903     -     4,501     - 

Trade payables (Note 20)     72,454     3     80,285     4 

Other payables (Note 21)     94,064     4     111,774     5 

Current tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 26)     25,851     1     54,096     2 

Lease liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 14)     2,617     -     1,589     - 

Long-term borrowings due within one year (Notes 4, 19 and 33)     15,385     1     17,047     1 

Other current liabilities     634     -     600     - 

                     

Total current liabilities     232,788     10     309,807     14 

                     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Long-term borrowings (Notes 4, 19 and 33)     161,538     8     196,040     9 

Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 26)     46,416     2     51,927     2 

Lease liabilities - non-current (Notes 4 and 14)     5,060     -     1,111     - 

Guarantee deposits     889     -     922     - 

                     

Total non-current liabilities     213,903     10     250,000     11 

                     

    Total liabilities     446,691     20     559,807     25 

                     

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (Note 23)         

Share capital         

Ordinary shares     547,890     25     493,595     22 

Capital surplus     326,906     15     328,267     14 

Retained earnings         

Legal reserve     305,529     14     274,173     12 

Special reserve     52,271     2     77,239     3 

Unappropriated earnings     598,673     27     588,890     26 

Other equity         

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations     (55,477)     (3)     (52,271)     (2) 

Treasury shares     -     -     (7,393)     - 

                     

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company     1,775,792     80     1,702,500     75 

                     

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Note 23)     96     -     95     - 

                     

    Total equity     1,775,888     80     1,702,595     75 

                     

TOTAL    $ 2,222,579     100    $ 2,262,402     100 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4, 24, 32 and 38)    $ 1,367,401     100    $ 1,433,036     100 

                     

OPERATING COSTS (Notes 11, 18 , 25 and 28)     644,034     47     664,327     46 

                     

GROSS PROFIT     723,367     53     768,709     54 

                     

OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 9, 10, 25, 28 and 32)         

Selling and marketing expenses     242,402     18     255,734     18 

General and administrative expenses     99,757     7     99,145     7 

Research and development expenses     68,537     5     60,924     4 

Expected credit loss     620     -     482     - 

                     

Total operating expenses     411,316     30     416,285     29 

                     

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS     312,051     23     352,424     25 

                     

NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

(Notes 4 and 25)         

Interest income     9,948     1     9,633     1 

Other income     12,477     1     36,043     2 

Other gains and losses     19,559     1     26,075     2 

Finance costs     (3,741)     (1)     (3,637)     - 

                     

Total non-operating income and expenses     38,243     2     68,114     5 

                     

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX     350,294     25     420,538     30 

                     

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Notes 4 and 26)     (82,455)     (6)     (96,105)     (7) 

                     

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     267,839     19     324,433     23 

                     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(Notes 4, 22, 23 and 26)         

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:         

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan     82     -     471     - 

Unrealized (loss)/gain on investments in equity 

instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income     -     -     (6,823)     - 

Income tax relating to items that will not be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     (16)     -     (94)     - 

(Continued) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

         

     66     -     (6,446)     - 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss:         

Exchange differences on translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations     (4,008)     -     25,676     2 

Income tax relating to items that may be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     802     -     (5,135)     (1) 

     (3,206)     -     20,541     1 

                     

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, 

net of income tax     (3,140)     -     14,095     1 

                     

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR    $ 264,699     19    $ 338,528     24 

                     

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:         

Owners of the Company    $ 267,838     20    $ 324,438     23 

Non-controlling interests     1     -     (5)     - 

                     

    $ 267,839     20    $ 324,433     23 

                     

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:         

Owners of the Company    $ 264,698     19    $ 338,533     24 

Non-controlling interests     1     -     (5)     - 

                     

    $ 264,699     19    $ 338,528     24 

 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 27)         

From continuing operations         

Basic    $ 4.89      $ 5.93   

Diluted    $ 4.88      $ 5.91   

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 

  Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company     

        Other Equity         

      Retained Earnings  

Exchange 

Differences on 

Translation of 

Financial 

Statements of   

Unrealized 

Valuation 

Gain/(Loss) on 

Financial Assets 

at Fair Value 

Through Other          

  Share Capital        Unappropriated  Foreign   Comprehensive       Non-controlling   

  Ordinary Shares  Capital Surplus  Legal Reserve  Special Reserve  Earnings  Operations  Income  Treasury Shares  Total  Interests  Total Equity 

                       

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2022    $ 444,779    $ 327,723    $ 246,590    $ 59,645    $ 551,267    $ (72,812)    $ (4,427)    $ (27,360)    $ 1,525,405    $ 100    $ 1,525,505 

                                                        

Appropriation of 2021 earnings (Note 23)                       

Legal reserve     -     -     27,583     -     (27,583)     -     -     -     -     -     - 

Special reserve     -     -     -     17,594     (17,594)     -     -     -     -     -     - 

Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     (181,949)     -     -     -     (181,949)     -     (181,949) 

Share dividends distributed by the Company     48,816     -     -     -     (48,816)     -     -     -     -     -     - 

                                                        

Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2022     -     -     -     -     324,438     -     -     -     324,438     (5)     324,433 

                                                        

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 

2022, net of income tax     -     -     -     -     377     20,541     (6,823)     -     14,095     -     14,095 

                                                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 

2022     -     -     -     -     324,815     20,541     (6,823)     -     338,533     (5)     338,528 

                                                        

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Notes 23 and 28)     -     544     -     -     -     -     -     19,967     20,511     -     20,511 

                                                        

Disposal of equity instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (Note 23)     -     -     -     -     (11,250)     -     11,250     -     -     -     - 

                                                        

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022     493,595     328,267     274,173     77,239     588,890     (52,271)     -     (7,393)     1,702,500     95     1,702,595 

                                                        

Appropriation of 2022 earnings (Note 23)                       

Legal reserve     -     -     31,356     -     (31,356)     -     -     -     -     -     - 

Special reserve     -     -     -     (24,968)     24,968     -     -     -     -     -     - 

Cash dividends distributed by the Company     -     -     -     -     (197,438)     -     -     -     (197,438)     -     (197,438) 

Share dividends distributed by the Company     54,295     -     -     -     (54,295)     -     -     -     -     -     - 

                                                        

Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2023     -     -     -     -     267,838     -     -     -     267,838     1     267,839 

                                                        

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 

2023, net of income tax     -     -     -     -     66     (3,206)     -     -     (3,140)     -     (3,140) 

                                                        

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 

2023     -     -     -     -     267,904     (3,206)     -     -     264,698     1     264,699 

                                                        

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Notes 23 and 28)     -     (1,361)     -     -     -     -     -     7,393     6,032     -     6,032 

                                                        

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023    $ 547,890    $ 326,906    $ 305,529    $ 52,271    $ 598,673    $ (55,477)    $ -    $ -    $ 1,775,792    $ 96    $ 1,775,888 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES     

Income before income tax    $ 350,294    $ 420,538 

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation expense     40,308     37,157 

Amortization expense     9,063     8,093 

Expected credit loss     1,024     482 

Net gain on fair value changes of financial assets designated as at 

fair value through profit or loss     (14,903)     (6,191) 

Finance costs     3,741     3,637 

Interest income     (9,948)     (9,633) 

Dividend income     (2,053)     (2,559) 

Compensation cost of employee share options     -     2,433 

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment     (161)     3 

Write-downs of inventories     -     178 

Gain on lease modification     (14)     - 

Net loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange     2,739     (2,923) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

Financial assets mandatorily classified as at fair value through profit 

or loss     (975)     (44,865) 

Notes receivable     10,517     (6,095) 

Trade receivables     (23,552)     (8,723) 

Other receivables     (149)     604 

Inventories     29,222     (43,685) 

Prepayments     1,102     (439) 

Other current assets     11,036     (21) 

Net defined benefit assets     (292)     (349) 

Contract liabilities     (22,035)     17,230 

Notes payable     (598)     (7,333) 

Trade payables     (6,961)     (7,542) 

Other payables     (15,697)     7,363 

Other current liabilities     34     (439) 

Cash generated from operations     361,742     356,921 

Interest received     9,949     9,307 

Dividends received     2,053     2,559 

Interest paid     (3,739)     (3,544) 

Income tax paid     (114,222)     (72,732) 

           

Net cash generated from operating activities     255,783     292,511 

           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss     -     3,750 

Purchase of financial assets at amortized cost     (52,803)     (7,381) 

Payments for property, plant and equipment     (39,852)     (17,043) 

(Continued) 
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FINETEK CO., LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

 
  2023  2022 

     

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment     423     214 

Decrease in refundable deposits     9,664     1,927 

Payments for intangible assets     (3,899)     (3,382) 

Increase in prepayments for equipment     (4,744)     (2,833) 

           

Net cash used in investing activities     (91,211)     (24,748) 

           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from long-term borrowings     (36,164)     (38,913) 

Refund of guarantee deposits received     -     (368) 

Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities     (2,110)     (2,443) 

Dividends paid to owners of the Company     (197,438)     (181,949) 

Treasury shares transferred to employees (Note 24)     6,032     18,078 

           

Net cash used in financing activities     (229,680)     (205,595) 

           

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE BALANCE OF 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD IN FOREIGN 

CURRENCIES     (1,097)     20,670 

           

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS     (66,205)     82,838 

           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE 

YEAR     634,809     551,971 

           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR    $ 568,604    $ 634,809 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 

 

 

 

 



 

31 

 

 

[Attachment 4] 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

2023 Earnings Distribution Statement 
Unit: NTD 

Item Amount 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the period  330,768,861  

Current net income  267,837,740    

The remeasurement of the defined benefit plan is 

recognized in retained earnings, 
65,749    

Net income plus other adjustment items of the current 

period stated into the amount of undistributed earnings 

of the year. 

 267,903,489  

Provision of legal reserve (10%)  (26,790,349) 

Duly provision of special reserve  (3,206,642) 

Earnings distributable in the current period  568,675,359  

Distribution items:     

Cash dividend on common stock dividend (NT$4 

per share) 
(219,155,884)   

Stock dividend on common stock (NT$0.2 per 

share) 
(10,957,794)  

Total distributed amount   (230,113,678) 

Undistributed earnings at the end of the period  338,561,681 

Note: The total number of outstanding shares of the Company is 54,788,971 shares. 

 

 

 

Chairman: Wu Ching-Teh Manager: Wu Ting-Kuo Accounting Manager: 

Wang Hsiao-Chun 
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[Attachment 5] 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table of the “Articles of Incorporation”Before 

and After Amendment 

Current provisions Amended clause Description 

Article 5: 

The total capital of the Company 

is authorized as NT$620 million, 

divided into 62 million common 

shares at NT$10 per share. For 

unissued shares, the Board of 

Directors is authorized to issue in 

installments based on business 

needs of the Company. 

NT$20 million out of the capital 

referred to in the preceding 

paragraph shall be reserved for the 

issuance of employee stock 

warrants for exercising the stock 

options, and the Board of 

Directors is authorized to resolve 

the issuance of such shares in 

installments. 

After the public offering, the 

Company may issue employee 

stock warrants with subscription 

prices free from any restrictions 

under the relevant laws and 

regulations. However, such 

employee stock warrants shall be 

issued only after the approval of 

more than two-thirds of the voting 

rights of the shareholders present 

representing a majority of the 

issued shares, and the shares shall 

be filed and reported in 

installments within one year from 

the date of resolution of the 

shareholders' meeting. 

Article 5: 

The total capital of the Company is 

authorized as NT$820 million, 

divided into 82 million common 

shares at NT$10 per share. For 

unissued shares, the Board of 

Directors is authorized to issue in 

installments based on business 

needs of the Company. 

NT$20 million out of the capital 

referred to in the preceding 

paragraph shall be reserved for the 

issuance of employee stock 

warrants for exercising the stock 

options, and the Board of Directors 

is authorized to resolve the 

issuance of such shares in 

installments. 

After the public offering, the 

Company may issue employee 

stock warrants with subscription 

prices free from any restrictions 

under the relevant laws and 

regulations. However, such 

employee stock warrants shall be 

issued only after the approval of 

more than two-thirds of the voting 

rights of the shareholders present 

representing a majority of the 

issued shares, and the shares shall 

be filed and reported in 

installments within one year from 

the date of resolution of the 

shareholders' meeting. 

Proposed to raise the 

authorized amount of capital 

in response to the Company's 

operational and management 

needs. 

 

Article 12: 

The Company shall have five to 

seven directors, of which the 

number of independent directors 

shall not be less than three and 

shall not be less than one-fifth of 

the number of directors. The 

candidate nomination system is 

adopted for the election of 

directors, and shareholders are 

elected from the list of candidates 

in the shareholders' meeting. The 

Article 12: 

The Company shall have five to 

seven directors, of which the 

number of independent directors 

shall not be less than three. The 

candidate nomination system is 

adopted for the election of 

directors, and shareholders are 

elected from the list of candidates 

in the shareholders' meeting. The 

directors shall hold a term of office 

for three years, and may be 

Clerical corrections made in 

response to the Company's 

operational needs. 

 



 

33 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table of the “Articles of Incorporation”Before 

and After Amendment 

Current provisions Amended clause Description 

directors shall hold a term of 

office for three years, and may be 

reelected. 

The aggregate shareholdings of all 

directors of the Company shall be 

governed by the regulations of the 

competent authority in charge of 

securities. 

The Company may take out 

liability insurance for directors 

during their term of office in 

accordance with the law, covering 

the liability of damages to be 

borne by them within the scope of 

their job duties. The Board of 

Directors is authorized to handle 

related insurance matters. 

reelected. 

The aggregate shareholdings of all 

directors of the Company shall be 

governed by the regulations of the 

competent authority in charge of 

securities. 

The Company may take out 

liability insurance for directors 

during their term of office in 

accordance with the law, covering 

the liability of damages to be borne 

by them within the scope of their 

job duties. The Board of Directors 

is authorized to handle related 

insurance matters. 

Article 21: 

The Articles of Incorporation 

were established on January 22, 

2003. 

The first amendment hereto was 

made on July 12, 2003. 

The second amendment hereto 

was made on November 7, 2003. 

The third amendment hereto was 

made on October 1, 2004. 

The fourth amendment hereto was 

made on June 23, 2005. 

The fifth amendment hereto was 

made on June 29, 2007. 

The sixth amendment hereto was 

made on June 28, 2013. 

The seventh amendment hereto 

was made on January 24, 2014. 

The eighth amendment hereto was 

made on June 20, 2016. 

The ninth amendment hereto was 

made on June 2, 2017. 

The tenth amendment hereto was 

made on June 19, 2018. 

The eleventh amendment hereto 

was made on June 10, 2019. 

The twelfth amendment hereto 

was made on June 10, 2022. 

Article 21: 

The Articles of Incorporation were 

established on January 22, 2003. 

The first amendment hereto was 

made on July 12, 2003. 

The second amendment hereto was 

made on November 7, 2003. 

The third amendment hereto was 

made on October 1, 2004. 

The fourth amendment hereto was 

made on June 23, 2005. 

The fifth amendment hereto was 

made on June 29, 2007. 

The sixth amendment hereto was 

made on June 28, 2013. 

The seventh amendment hereto 

was made on January 24, 2014. 

The eighth amendment hereto was 

made on June 20, 2016. 

The ninth amendment hereto was 

made on June 2, 2017. 

The tenth amendment hereto was 

made on June 19, 2018. 

The eleventh amendment hereto 

was made on June 10, 2019. 

The twelfth amendment hereto was 

made on June 10, 2022. 

The thirteenth amendment hereto 

was made on May 27, 2024. 

Add the number and date of 

the amendments. 
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[Attachment 6] 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table of “Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ 

Meetings” Before and After the Amendment 
Current provisions Amended clause Description 

Article 3 

Shareholders' meetings of 

the Company shall be 

convened by the Board of 

Directors, unless otherwise 

provided in the law. 

 

Omitted below. 

 

Article 3 

Shareholders' meetings of 

the Company shall be 

convened by the Board of 

Directors, unless otherwise 

provided in the law. 

Unless otherwise provided 

in the Regulations Governing 

the Administration of 

Shareholders Service of 

Public Companies, the 

Company's organization of a 

shareholders’ meeting by 

means of visual 

communication network shall 

be expressly defined in the 

articles of incorporation and 

subject to resolution by the 

Board of Directors. 

Meanwhile, the organization 

of a shareholders’ meeting by 

means of visual 

communication network shall 

be adopted per the resolution 

rendered by a majority of 

directors at a meeting attended 

by two-thirds or more of the 

total number of directors. 

 

Omitted below. 

Amended in accordance 

with the letter Zheng-

Kuei-Jian-Zi No. 

11200552441 dated 

March 23, 2023. 

 

Article 6-1 

The Company shall specify 

the following in the 

shareholders’ meeting notice 

when convening a 

shareholders’ meeting by 

means of visual 

communication network: 

The subparagraphs 1 and 2 are 

omitted.  

3. When the Company 

convenes a virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting, it 

shall also specify 

appropriate alternative 

measures available to 

shareholders who have 

Article 6-1 

The Company shall specify 

the following in the 

shareholders’ meeting notice 

when convening a 

shareholders’ meeting by 

means of visual 

communication network: 

The subparagraphs 1 and 2 are 

omitted.  

3. When the Company 

convenes a virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting, it 

shall also specify 

appropriate alternative 

measures available to 

shareholders who have 

Amended in accordance 

with the letter Zheng-

Kuei-Jian-Zi No. 

11200552441 dated 

March 23, 2023. 
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FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table of “Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ 

Meetings” Before and After the Amendment 
Current provisions Amended clause Description 

difficulty taking part in 

the virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting. 

difficulty taking part in 

the virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting. 

Except for the situations 

specified in Paragraph 6, 

Article 44-9 of the 

Regulations Governing 

the Administration of 

Shareholder Services of 

Public Companies, it 

shall at least provide said 

shareholders with 

connection facilities and 

necessary assistance, and 

shall specify the period 

during which 

shareholders may file 

applications with the 

Company and other 

related matters to be 

attended. 

Article 22 

When the Company 

convenes a virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting, it shall 

also provide appropriate 

alternative measures available to 

shareholders who have difficulty 

taking part in the virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting. 

Article 22 

When the Company 

convenes a virtual-only 

shareholders' meeting, it shall 

also provide appropriate 

alternative measures available 

to shareholders who have 

difficulty taking part in the 

virtual-only shareholders' 

meeting. Except for the 

situations specified in 

Paragraph 6, Article 44-9 of 

the Regulations Governing the 

Administration of Shareholder 

Services of Public Companies, 

it shall at least provide said 

shareholders with connection 

facilities and necessary 

assistance, and shall specify 

the period during which 

shareholders may file 

applications with the Company 

and other related matters to be 

attended. 

Amended in accordance 

with the letter Zheng-

Kuei-Jian-Zi No. 

11200552441 dated 

March 23, 2023. 
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[Attachment 7] 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table for the “Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal 

of Assets” Before and After the Amendment 

Current provisions Amended clause Description 

Article 9 Procedures for the 

Acquisition or Disposal of 

Securities 

Paragraphs 1 to 4 (Omitted) 

5. The Company shall not waive 

its capital increase in 

Golden Land International 

Corp. (hereinafter referred 

to as GOLDEN) and 

POWERLINE CORP. in 

each coming year. 

GOLDEN shall not waive 

its capital increase in 

APLUS FINETEK 

SENSOR INC.in each 

coming year. 

POWERLINE CORP. shall 

not waive its capital 

increase in FACO 

INTERNATIONAL CO., 

LTD. (hereinafter referred 

to as “FACO”) and 

RANGER 

INTERNATIONAL CO., 

LTD. in each coming year. 

FACO shall not waive its 

capital increase in 

Shanghai Fine Automation 

Co., Ltd., FINETEK 

GMBH and FINETEK 

PTE. LTD. in each coming 

year. If the Company has 

to waive the capital 

increase in any of said 

companies or dispose of 

said companies due to 

strategic alliance 

considerations or other 

matters with TPEx's 

consent, such waiver or 

disposal shall be approved 

per a special resolution 

rendered by the Company's 

Board of Directors. 

 

Article 9 Procedures for the 

Acquisition or Disposal of 

Securities 

Paragraphs 1 to 4 (Omitted) 

5. The Company shall not waive 

its capital increase in 

Golden Land International 

Corp. (hereinafter referred 

to as GOLDEN), 

POWERLINE CORP. and 

FINETEK GMBH in each 

coming year. GOLDEN 

shall not waive its capital 

increase in APLUS 

FINETEK SENSOR INC.in 

each coming year. 

POWERLINE CORP. shall 

not waive its capital 

increase in FACO 

INTERNATIONAL CO., 

LTD. (hereinafter referred to 

as “FACO”) in each coming 

year. FACO shall not waive 

its capital increase in 

Shanghai Fine Automation 

Co., Ltd. and FINETEK 

PTE. LTD. in each coming 

year. If the Company has to 

waive the capital increase in 

any of said companies or 

dispose of said companies 

due to strategic alliance 

considerations or other 

matters with the competent 

authority’s consent, such 

waiver or disposal shall be 

approved per a special 

resolution rendered by the 

Company's Board of 

Directors. 

RANGER 

INTERNATIONAL CO., 

LTD has already applied for 

de-listing on September 23, 

2014. Accordingly, it is 

delisted for the time being. 

Meanwhile, the Company 

changed the organizational 

structure of FINETEK 

GMBH in August 2019. The 

original investment in 

FINETEK GMBH by 

FACO INTERNATIONAL 

CO., LTD. was changed 

into the direct investment 

by the Company. Article 9 

was amended accordingly. 
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FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Comparison Table for the “Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal 

of Assets” Before and After the Amendment 

Current provisions Amended clause Description 

Article 14 

Paragraphs 1 to 6 are omitted. 

Added paragraph. 

Article 14 

Paragraphs 1 to 6 are omitted. 

When the Company has a 

transaction with related parties 

referred to in Paragraph 1, the 

actual transaction status 

(including the actual transaction 

amount, transaction terms, and 

the information referred to 

Paragraph 1) shall be submitted 

to the most recent shareholders' 

meeting at the end of the year. 

This new paragraph is 

added in accordance with 

the “Rules Governing 

Financial and Business 

Matters Between this 

Corporation and its Related 

Parties.” 
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[Appendix 1] 

FineTek Co., Ltd. Articles of Incorporation (before the 

amendment) 
Chapter 1 General Provisions 

 

Article 1: The Company is incorporated in accordance with the Company Act, and named as FineTek 

Co., Ltd. in English. 

Article 2: The Company's business lines are stated as follows: 

1. CC01060 Wired Communication Mechanical Equipment Manufacturing. 

2. CC01070 Wireless Communication Mechanical Equipment Manufacturing. 

3. CC01111 Controlled Telecommunications Radio-Frequency Equipment Manufacturing. 

4. CE01021 Weights and Measuring Instruments Manufacturing 

5. F113060 Wholesale of Measuring Instruments 

6. F213050 Retail Sale of Weights and Measuring Instruments 

7. F401021 Controlled Telecommunications Radio-Frequency Equipment Import 

8. F401181 Measuring Instruments Import 

9. F401010 International Trade. 

10. ZZ99999 All businesses that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except those that 

are subject to approval. 

Article 3: The Company shall have its head office in New Taipei City and, when necessary, may 

establish branches domestically or overseas. The establishment, abolishment, or change of 

the Company shall be handled in accordance with the resolutions of the Board of Directors. 

Article 4: The public announcement method of the Company shall be handled in accordance with the 

provisions of the Company Act, except when otherwise is stipulated by the competent 

authority in charge of securities with respect to the public company. 

Article 4-1: The Company may make external investments as needed for business purposes, and the 

Board of Directors is authorized to make investments as needed. The Company, when it is 

a shareholder of another company with limited liability, is not limited by the 40% paid-in 

capital amount in the Company Act. 

Article 4-2: The Company may provide endorsement/guarantee externally business needs. 

 

Chapter 2 Shares 

Article 5: The total capital of the Company is authorized as NT$620 million, divided into 62 million 

common shares at NT$10 per share. For unissued shares, the Board of Directors is authorized 

to issue in installments based on business needs of the Company. 

NT$20 million out of the capital referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be reserved for 

the issuance of employee stock warrants for exercising the stock options, and the Board of 

Directors is authorized to resolve the issuance of such shares in installments. 

After the public offering, the Company may issue employee stock warrants with subscription 

prices free from any restrictions under the relevant laws and regulations. However, such 

employee stock warrants shall be issued only after the approval of more than two-thirds of 

the voting rights of the shareholders present representing a majority of the issued shares, and 

the shares shall be filed and reported in installments within one year from the date of 

resolution of the shareholders' meeting. 

Article 5-1: The shares of the Company are registered, which are issued after being signed or sealed 

by the director representing the Company and certified according to laws. After the public 

offering of the Company's shares, the Company may issue a consolidated copy of the total 

number of shares issued or may be exempted from printing share certificates and may issue 

shares without printing physical stock certificates but shall register these issued shares 
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with or have them kept by a securities depository organization. 

Article 6: Deleted. 

Article 7: It shall be suspended within 30 days before an annual general meeting, within 15 days before 

a special shareholders’ meeting, or within 5 days before the record date decided by the 

Company for distribution of dividends and bonuses or other benefits. The period referred to 

in the preceding paragraph shall be counted from the meeting date or the base date. After the 

public offering of the Company's shares, registration for the transfer of stocks in the roster 

of shareholders, if any, shall be suspended within 60 days before an annual general meeting, 

within 30 days before a special shareholders’ meeting, or within 5 days before the record 

date decided by the Company for distribution of dividends and bonuses or other benefits. 

Article 7-1: After the public offering, the shareholder services of the Company shall be handled in 

accordance with the “Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services 

of Public Companies” promulgated by the competent authority. 

Article 7-2: The shares repurchased by the Company in accordance with the Company Act may be 

transferred to employees of companies controlled by the Company or subsidiaries of the 

Company who meet certain criteria. 

The Company's employee stock warrants are issued to employees of companies controlled 

by the Company or subsidiaries of the Company who meet certain criteria. 

Employees who subscribe for new shares when the Company issues the new shares include 

those of companies controlled by the Company or subsidiaries of the Company who meet 

certain criteria. 

The subjects of the Company's issuance of restricted stock awards (RSAs) to employees 

includes those of companies controlled by the Company or subsidiaries of the Company 

meeting certain criteria. 

 

Chapter 3 Shareholders’ Meetings 

Article 8: The shareholders' meetings are divided into annual general meetings and special 

shareholders' meetings. An annual general meeting shall be convened at least once a year, 

by the Board of Directors within six months after the end of each fiscal year. A special 

shareholders' meeting shall be convened in accordance with the law, whenever necessary. 

The shareholders' meetings shall be convened in accordance with the procedures defined 

under the Company Act. 

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act, the shareholders' meetings referred to 

in the preceding paragraph shall be convened by the Board of Directors and chaired by the 

Chairman of the Board. When the Chairman is on leave or for any reason unable to 

exercise the powers of the chairperson, the proxy shall act on behalf of him in accordance 

with Paragraph 3, Article 208 of the Company Act. If the meeting is convened by a person 

with the right to convene other than the Board of Directors, the person with the right to 

convene shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more persons, one shall be elected 

from among themselves. 

Article 8-1: The shareholders' meeting of the Company may be held by videoconference or other 

methods announced by the Ministry of Economic Affairs. 

Article 9: If a shareholder is unable to attend the shareholders' meeting for some reason, he or she may 

issue a proxy form printed by the Company to specify the scope of authorization, and enter 

his/her seal/signature thereto to appoint a proxy to attend the meeting on behalf of him/her. 

After the public offering, the Company shall follow the “Regulations Governing the Use of 

Proxies for Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies” in addition to Article 

177 of the Company Act. 

Article 10: Each shareholder of the Company shall have one voting right per share, except under 

circumstances where their shares are restricted or without voting rights under the Company 
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Act. 

When the Company convenes a shareholders' meeting, it may exercise its voting rights by 

correspondence or electronic means. When it exercises its voting rights by correspondence 

or electronic means, the method of exercise shall be specified in the shareholders' meeting 

notice. 

Article 10-1: A shareholder holding one percent or more of the total number of issued shares may 

submit a written proposal to the Company for an annual general meeting. However, it is 

limited to one item only and it is limited to 300 words; otherwise, the proposals will not 

be included in the agenda. Shareholders who have proposed the motion shall attend the 

annual general meeting in person, or entrust others to attend the meeting and participate 

in the discussion of the agenda on behalf of them. The relevant operations are handled in 

accordance with the Company Act and relevant regulations. 

Article 11: Unless otherwise provided in the Company Act, the resolutions of the shareholders' meeting 

shall be attended by the shareholders who represent more than half of the total number of 

issued shares, and the resolutions of the shareholders' meeting shall be made by a majority 

of the voting rights of the shareholders present. Shareholders' meetings shall be held in 

accordance with the Company's Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' Meetings, except as 

otherwise provided by the Company Act and the Articles of Incorporation. 

Article 11-1: The resolutions reached at a shareholders' meeting shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting, which shall be signed or sealed by the chairperson of the shareholders' meeting 

and distributed to each shareholder within 20 days after the meeting. 

The preparation and distribution of said minutes may be done by electronic means. 

After the public offering of the Company, the meeting minutes may be distributed by 

means of a public announcement. 

Article 11-2: If, after the public offering, the Company intends to cancel the public offering, an 

application shall be submitted to the competent authority for approval per resolution by 

the shareholders' meeting. This provision shall remain unchanged during the period of 

listing on Emerging Stock Market and on TWSE/TPEx. 

Article 11-3: The cumulative voting system shall be adopted for the election of the Company's directors. 

Each share will have voting rights in an amount equal to the number of directors to be 

elected, and may be cast for a single candidate or split among multiple candidates. 

Candidates to whom the ballots are cast represent a prevailing number of votes shall be 

elected as the directors. 

 

Chapter 4 Directors and Audit Committee 

Article 12: The Company shall have five to seven directors, of which the number of independent 

directors shall not be less than three and shall not be less than one-fifth of the number of 

directors. The candidate nomination system is adopted for the election of directors, and 

shareholders are elected from the list of candidates in the shareholders' meeting. The 

directors shall hold a term of office for three years, and may be reelected. 

The aggregate shareholdings of all directors of the Company shall be governed by the 

regulations of the competent authority in charge of securities. 

The Company may take out liability insurance for directors during their term of office in 

accordance with the law, covering the liability of damages to be borne by them within the 

scope of their job duties. The Board of Directors is authorized to handle related insurance 

matters. 

Article 13: The Board comprises directors. The Chairman shall be elected from among the directors 

with the consent of a majority of the directors present at a meeting attended by more than 

two-thirds of the directors. The Chairman will chair shareholders’ and Board of Directors 

meetings internally and represent the Company externally. 
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Article 14: Unless otherwise provided in the Company Act, the Board of Directors meetings shall be 

convened by the Chairman of the Board. When the Chairman is on leave or for any reason 

unable to exercise the powers of the chairperson, the proxy shall act on behalf of him in 

accordance with the Company Act. 

A notice shall be given to all directors in writing, by e-mail or by fax seven days in advance, 

specifying the reason for convening the Board of Directors meeting, provided that the 

Board of Directors meeting may be convened at any time in case of emergency. 

Unless otherwise provided in the Company Act, a resolution of the Board of Directors shall 

be approved by a majority of the directors at a meeting attended by a majority of the 

directors. 

Article 14-1: The Board of Directors shall meet at least once per quarter. The directors shall attend the 

Board of Directors meetings in person. If a director is unable to attend a Board meeting 

for any reason, he/she may authorize another director to attend the meeting on his/her 

behalf in writing. However, a proxy letter shall be issued for each time specifying the 

scope of the authorization. Each proxy may only be entrusted to act as the proxy for one 

person. 

If a Board meeting is held by way of video conference, the directors participating in the 

video conference shall be deemed to have attended the meeting in person. 

Article 14-2: The resolutions reached at the Board of Directors meeting shall be recorded in the minutes 

of the meeting, which shall be signed or sealed by the chairperson of the meeting, and a 

duplicate thereof shall be distributed to each director within 20 days after the meeting. 

Article 15: When all directors perform their duties, regardless of the Company's operating profit or loss, 

the Company shall pay them remuneration. The Board of Directors is authorized to 

determine the remuneration based on their participation in the Company's operation and 

contribution value, and in reference to the pay level among the peers. 

Article 15-1: The Company intends to establish functional committees under the Board of Directors. 

The establishment and duties of relevant committees shall follow the regulations 

established by the competent authorities. 

Article 15-2: The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with the law, which is 

composed of all independent directors. The functions and powers of the Audit Committee 

and other compliance matters shall be handled in accordance with the relevant laws and 

regulations or the Company's regulations. 
 

Chapter 5 Managerial Officers 

Article 16: The Company may appoint managers, and the appointment, dismissal and remuneration of 

the managers shall be handled in accordance with the provisions of the Company Act. 

 

Chapter 6 Accounting 

Article 17: The Company's fiscal year starts from January 1 to December 31 of each year. At the end 

of each fiscal year, the Board of Directors shall prepare the (1) business report; (2) financial 

statements, and (3) earnings distribution or loss compensation proposals, to be submitted 

to the annual general meeting for recognition in accordance with statutory procedures. 

Article 18: If there is profit sought in the year, the Company shall set aside 3% or more as employee 

remuneration, which shall be distributed in shares or cash per resolution of the Board of 

Directors. The recipients thereof include the employees of the Company's controlling or 

subordinate companies who meet certain criteria. The Company may allow the Board of 

Directors to allocate no more than 3% of the above profits as the directors' remuneration 

in reference to the degree of participation and contribution of the directors to the 

Company's operations. The proposal for distribution of employees' and directors' 

remuneration shall be reported to a shareholders' meeting. However, if the Company still 
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has accumulated losses, the Company shall reserve an amount to make up for it, and then 

provide employees' remuneration and directors' remuneration based on the percentage 

referred to in the preceding paragraph. 

Article 19: If the Company retains earnings in the annual final accounts, after paying the taxes and 

levies in accordance with the law and making up the accumulated losses, it shall set aside 

10% thereof as the legal reserve, unless the legal reserve has reached the amount of the 

Company's paid-in capital. Then, the special reserve shall be appropriated or reversed in 

accordance with the laws or regulations or the competent authority’s regulations. The 

remaining balance, plus the accumulated undistributed earnings, shall be distributed based 

on the plan proposed by the Board of Directors to the shareholders' meeting for resolution 

as bonuses and dividends to shareholders. The Company is currently in the growth stage. 

Considering the Company's current and future investment environment, capital 

requirements and capital budget, as well as taking into account the interests of shareholders 

and the Company's long-term financial plan, the Company's dividend policy may retain a 

part of its earnings, and the cumulative distributable earnings appropriated from the 

remaining balance shall be no less than 10% of the current year's distributable earnings, of 

which cash dividends shall be no less than 10% of the total dividends. 

 

Chapter 7 Supplementary Provisions 

Article 20: Matters not covered in the Articles of Incorporation shall be handled in accordance with the 

Company Act and relevant laws and regulations. 

Article 21: The Articles of Incorporation were established on January 22, 2003. 

The first amendment hereto was made on July 12, 2003. 

The second amendment hereto was made on November 7, 2003. 

The third amendment hereto was made on October 1, 2004. 

The fourth amendment hereto was made on June 23, 2005. 

The fifth amendment hereto was made on June 29, 2007. 

The sixth amendment hereto was made on June 28, 2013. 

The seventh amendment hereto was made on January 24, 2014. 

The eighth amendment hereto was made on June 20, 2016. 

The ninth amendment hereto was made on June 2, 2017. 

The tenth amendment hereto was made on June 19, 2018. 

The eleventh amendment hereto was made on June 10, 2019. 

The twelfth amendment hereto was made on June 10, 2022. 

 

 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Chairman: Wu Ching-Teh 
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[Appendix 2] 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' Meetings (before the 

Amendment) 

 

Article 1 In order to establish a good governance system, improve the supervisory function and 

strengthen the management function of the Company's shareholders' meeting, these Rules 

are established in accordance with Article 5 of the Corporate Governance Best-Practice 

Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies. 

Article 2 The rules of procedure for the Company's shareholders' meetings, except as otherwise 

provided by laws and regulations or the Articles of Incorporation, shall follow the Rules. 

Article 3 Shareholders' meetings of the Company shall be convened by the Board of Directors, unless 

otherwise provided in the law. 

Changes to the method of convening a shareholders' meeting of the Company shall be subject 

to a resolution by the Board of Directors, and made no later than the dispatch of the notice 

of the shareholders' meeting. 

The Company shall compile an electronic file that contains meeting notice, proxy letter form, 

motions for ratification, motions for discussion, election or dismissal of directors, etc. and 

post it on the MOPS before 30 days before the date of an annual general meeting or before 

15 days before the date of a special shareholders' meeting. At least 21 days before an annual 

general meeting, or 15 days before a special shareholders’ meeting, an electronic copy of the 

shareholders’ meeting handbook and supplementary information shall be prepared and 

posted onto MOPS. Notwithstanding, where the Company's paid-in capital reaches NT$10 

billion or more at the end of the most recent fiscal year, or in which the aggregate 

shareholding percentage of foreign investors and Mainland Chinese investors reaches 30% 

or more as recorded in the roster of shareholders at the time of organization of the annual 

general meeting in the most recent fiscal year, it shall upload the electronic file 30 days prior 

to the day on which the annual general meeting is to be held. Within 15 days before the date 

of the shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall also have prepared the shareholders’ 

meeting handbook and supplementary information and made them available for review by 

shareholders at any time. The same shall also be displayed at the premises of the Company 

and the professional shareholder services agent designated by the Company. 

The handbook and supplementary information referred to in the preceding paragraph shall 

be made available to the shareholders for reference by the Company on the day of the meeting 

in the following manners: 

1. For tangible shareholders’ meetings, to be distributed on-site at the meeting. 

2. For hybrid shareholders' meetings, to be distributed on-site at the meeting and shared on 

the virtual meeting platform in an electronic form. 

3. For shareholders’ meeting convened by means of visual communication network only, to 

be shared on the virtual meeting platform in an electronic form. 

The reasons for convening a shareholders’ meeting shall be specified in the meeting notice 

and public announcement. With the consent of the addressee, the meeting notice may be 

given in electronic form. 

Election or dismissal of directors, amendments to the Articles of Incorporation, capital 

reduction, application for cessation of public offering, approval of directors’ competition 

with the Company, capitalization of retained earnings and capital reserve, company 

dissolution, merger, spin-off, or the conditions set forth in Paragraph 1, Article 185 of the 

Company Act, Article 26-1 and Article 43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act, and Article 

56-1 and Article 60-2 of the Regulations Governing the Offering and Issuance of Securities 
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by Securities Issuers shall be set out, with the essential contents explained, in the notice of 

the reasons for convening the meeting. None of the above matters may be raised as an 

extempore motion. 

Where re-election of all directors as well as their inauguration date is stated in the notice of 

the reasons for convening the shareholders’ meeting, after the completion of the re-election 

in said meeting such inauguration date may not be altered by any extempore motion or 

otherwise in the same meeting. 

Shareholder(s) holding one percent (1%) or more of the total number of outstanding shares 

of the Company may submit to the Company a proposal for discussion at an annual general 

meeting, provided that the shareholder is allowed to submit no more than one proposal to the 

annual general meeting. Any additional proposal will not be included into the motions. 

Additionally, when the circumstances of any subparagraph of Paragraph 4, Article 172-1 of 

the Company Act apply to a proposal put forward by a shareholder, the Board of Directors 

may exclude it from the motions. Any shareholder may submit any suggestive proposal to 

urge the Company to promote public interests or fulfill its social responsibilities. 

Procedurally, the shareholder is allowed to submit no more than one proposal pursuant to 

Article 172-1 of the Company Act. Any additional proposal will not be included into the 

motions. 

Prior to the book closure date before an annual general meeting is held, the Company shall 

publicly announce its acceptance of shareholder proposals in writing or electronically, and 

the location and time period for their submission; the period for submission of shareholder 

proposals may not be less than 10 days. 

Shareholders shall limit their proposed motions to 300 words only; proposals that exceed 300 

words will not be accepted for discussion. Shareholders who have successfully proposed 

their motions shall attend the annual general meeting in person or through proxy and 

participate in the discussion. 

The Company shall notify the resolution to the shareholders submitting the proposals before 

the date of notice for the shareholders' meeting, and list the motions meeting the requirements 

defined in this provision in the meeting notice. For shareholders' proposals that are not 

included in the motions, the Board of Directors shall explain the reasons for not including 

such proposals at the shareholders' meeting. 

Article 4 For each shareholders’ meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy to attend the meeting by 

providing the proxy letter issued by the Company and stating the scope of the proxy’s 

authorization. 

A shareholder may issue only one proxy letter and appoint only one proxy for any given 

shareholders’ meeting, and shall deliver the proxy letter to the Company 5 days before the 

date of the meeting. When duplicate proxy letters are delivered, the one received earliest 

shall prevail. However, this excludes situations where the shareholder has issued a proper 

declaration to withdraw the previous proxy arrangement. 

After a proxy letter has been delivered to the Company, if the shareholder intends to attend 

the meeting in person or to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a 

written notice of proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company 2 business days 

before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted after due date, votes casted at 

the meeting by the proxy shall prevail. 

After a proxy letter has been delivered to the Company, if the shareholder intends to attend 

a visual shareholders’ meeting, a written notice of proxy cancellation shall be submitted to 

the Company 2 business days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted 

after due date, votes casted at the meeting by the proxy shall prevail. 

Article 5 The venue for a shareholders’ meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place 

easily accessible to shareholders and suitable for the meeting. The meeting may begin no 

earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall be given to the opinions 

of the independent directors with respect to the place and time of the meeting. 
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Virtual shareholder meetings are not subject to the location restrictions stated in the 

preceding Paragraph. 

Article 6 The Company shall specify in the meeting notice the time and place for acceptance of the 

registration from the shareholders, solicitors and proxies (hereinafter referred to as 

“shareholders”) and other matters to be noted. 

The time when shareholder attendance registrations will be accepted, as stated in the 

preceding paragraph, shall be at least 30 minutes prior to the time the meeting commences. 

The place at which attendance registrations are accepted shall be clearly marked and a 

sufficient number of suitable personnel assigned to handle the registrations. For virtual 

shareholders’ meetings, shareholders may begin to register on the virtual meeting platform 

30 minutes before the meeting starts. Shareholders completing registration will be deemed 

as attend the shareholders’ meeting in person. 

Shareholders shall attend the shareholders meeting with the attendance card, sign-in card or 

other attendance documents. The Company shall not arbitrarily add requirements for other 

supporting documents beyond those showing eligibility to attend presented by shareholders. 

Solicitors soliciting the proxy letters shall also bring identification documents for verification. 

The Company shall furnish the attending shareholders with an attendance book to sign, or 

attending shareholders may hand in a sign-in card in lieu of signing in. 

Shareholders who attend the meeting shall be given by the Company a copy of the meeting 

handbook, annual report, attendance pass, opinion slip, agenda ballots and any information 

relevant to the meeting.  

Additional ballots shall be prepared if director election is also being held during the meeting. 

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be represented by more 

than one representative at a shareholders’ meeting. Any juristic person that has been 

designated as a proxy attendant can only appoint one representative to attend the shareholders’ 

meeting. 

Where a shareholders’ meeting is convened by means of visual communication network and 

any shareholder intends to attend the virtual shareholders’ meeting, the shareholder shall 

register with the Company within 2 days prior to the shareholders’ meeting. 

In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall upload the meeting 

handbook, annual report and other related information to the virtual meeting platform at least 

30 minutes before the meeting starts, and keep this information disclosed until the end of the 

meeting. 

Article 6-1 The Company shall specify the following in the shareholders’ meeting notice when 

convening a shareholders’ meeting by means of visual communication network: 

1. Methods for shareholders to participate in the meeting and exercise their rights. 

2. Actions to be taken if the virtual meeting platform or participation in the virtual 

meeting is obstructed due to natural disasters, accidents or other force majeure 

events, at least covering the following particulars: 

(1) To what time the meeting is postponed or from what time the meeting will resume 

if the above obstruction continues and cannot be removed, and the date to which 

the meeting is postponed, if required, or on which the meeting will resume. 

(2) Shareholders not registering to attend the affected virtual shareholders’ meeting 

shall not attend the postponed or resumed session. 

(3) In case of a hybrid shareholders' meeting, when the virtual meeting cannot be 

continued, if the total number of shares represented at the meeting, after 

deducting those represented by shareholders attending the virtual shareholders’ 

meeting online, meets the minimum legal requirement for a shareholders’ 

meeting, then the shareholders’ meeting shall continue. The shares represented 

by shareholders attending the virtual meeting online shall be counted towards 

the total number of shares represented by shareholders present at the meeting, 



 

46 

 

and the shareholders attending the virtual meeting online shall be deemed 

abstaining from voting on all proposals on the meeting agenda. 

(4) Actions to be taken if the outcome of all proposals has been announced and 

extempore motion has not been carried out. 

3. When the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders' meeting, it shall also specify 

appropriate alternative measures available to shareholders who have difficulty taking 

part in the virtual-only shareholders' meeting. 

Article 7 If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting shall be chaired 

by the Chairman. When the Chairman is on leave or, for any reason, unable to exercise the 

powers of the chairperson, the Vice Chairman shall act as the chairperson. Where no Vice 

Chairman is appointed, or the Vice Chairman is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise 

the powers of the chairperson too, the Chairman shall designate one managing director to act 

on behalf of him/her. Where no managing director is appointed, the Chairman may designate 

one director to act on behalf of him/her. Where the Chairman does not make such a 

designation, the managing directors, or directors, shall select from among themselves one 

person to serve as chairperson. 

If a managing director or a director serves as the chairperson in the preceding paragraph, the 

managing director or director shall be the one who has held the position for more than six 

months and who understands the financial and business conditions of the Company. The 

same shall apply to a representative who is a juristic person director. 

It is advisable that shareholders’ meetings convened by the Board of Directors be chaired by 

the Chairman of Board in person and attended by a majority of the directors, and at least one 

member of each functional committee on behalf of the committee. The attendance shall be 

recorded in the shareholders’ meeting minutes. 

If a shareholders' meeting is convened by a party with the power to convene other than the 

Board of Directors, the party with the power to convene shall chair the meeting. When there 

are two or more persons, one shall be elected from among themselves. 

The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related persons 

retained by it to attend a shareholders’ meeting in a non-voting capacity. 

Article 8 The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder attendance registrations, shall 

make an uninterrupted audio and video recording of the registration procedure, the 

proceedings of the shareholders’ meeting, and the voting and vote counting procedures. 

These recordings shall be retained for at least one year. However, if a shareholder raises a 

litigious claim against the Company in accordance with Article 189 of The Company Act, 

the abovementioned documents shall be retained until the end of the litigation. 

Where a virtual shareholders’ meeting is held, the Company shall keep records of shareholder 

registration, sign-in, check-in, questions raised, votes cast and results of votes counted by the 

Company, and continuously audio and video record, without interruption, the proceedings of 

the virtual meeting from beginning to end. 

The abovementioned data and recordings shall be kept properly for as long as the Company 

exists; a copy of the recording shall also be retained by the video conference service provider. 

In case of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company is advised to audio and video record 

the back-end operation interface of the virtual meeting platform. 

Article 9 Attendance at a shareholders’ meeting shall be calculated based on numbers of shares. The 

number of shares in attendance shall be calculated according to the shares indicated by the 

attendance book or sign-in cards handed in, and the shares checked in on the virtual meeting 

platform, plus the number of shares whose voting rights are exercised by correspondence or 

electronically. 

The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting time, and at the same time 

announce the number of non-voting shares and the number of shares attending the meeting. 

However, when the attending shareholders represent less than a majority of the total number 
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of issued shares, the chairperson may announce a postponement, provided that no more than 

two such postponements, for a combined total of no more than one hour, may be made. If 

the quorum is not met after two postponements and the attending shareholders still represent 

less than one-third of the total number of issued shares, the chairperson shall declare the 

meeting adjourned. In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall also 

declare the meeting adjourned at the virtual meeting platform. 

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in the preceding paragraph, 

but the attending shareholders represent one-third or more of the total number of issued 

shares, a tentative resolution may be adopted pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Article 175 of the 

Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative resolution and another 

shareholders’ meeting shall be convened within one month. In the event of a virtual 

shareholders’ meeting, shareholders intending to attend the meeting online shall re-register 

to the Company in accordance with Article 6. 

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders represent a majority of 

the total number of issued shares, the chairperson may resubmit the tentative resolution for 

a vote by the shareholders’ meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company Act. 

Article 10 If the shareholders' meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, its agenda shall be set 

by the Board of Directors. The relevant motions shall be voted on one by one. The meeting 

shall be conducted according to the scheduled agenda, but shall not be changed without 

the resolution of the shareholders' meeting. 

The requirements referred to in the preceding paragraph shall apply if the shareholder 

meeting is convened by any authorized party other than the Board of Directors. 

The chairperson may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion of deliberation 

on the meeting agenda of the preceding two paragraphs (including extempore motions), 

except by a resolution of the shareholders meeting. If the chairperson declares the meeting 

adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other members of the Board of 

Directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders in electing a new chairperson in 

accordance with statutory procedures, by agreement of a majority of the votes represented 

by the attending shareholders, and then continue the meeting. 

The chairperson shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for explanation and 

discussion of proposals and of amendments or special motions put forward by the 

shareholders. When the chairperson is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed 

sufficiently to put it to a vote, the chairperson may announce the discussion closed, call 

for a vote, and schedule sufficient time for voting. 

Article 11 Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker slip the gist of the 

speech, his/her shareholder account number (or attendance card number), and account 

name. The order in which shareholders speak will be set by the chairperson. 

An attending shareholder who has submitted a speaker’s slip but does not speak shall be 

deemed to have not spoken. The contents of the speech shall prevail if they are inconsistent 

with the speaker’s slip. 

Except with the consent of the chairperson, a shareholder may not speak more than twice 

on the same motion, and a single speech may not exceed five minutes. However, if the 

shareholder's speech violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the agenda, the chairperson 

may terminate the speech. 

When an attending shareholder is speaking, the other shareholders may not speak or 

interrupt unless they have sought and obtained the consent of the chairperson and the 

shareholder that has the floor. The chairperson shall stop any violation. 

Where a corporate shareholder has appointed two or more representatives to attend the 

shareholder meeting, only one representative may speak per motion. 

After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chairperson may respond in person or direct 

relevant personnel to respond. 
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Where a virtual shareholders’ meeting is convened, shareholders attending the virtual 

meeting online may raise questions in writing at the virtual meeting platform from the time 

when the chairperson declares the meeting open until the chairperson declares the meeting 

adjourned. No more than two questions for the same proposal may be raised. Each question 

shall contain no more than 200 words. The regulations in Paragraphs 1 to 5 do not apply. 

As long as questions so raised in accordance with the preceding paragraph do not violate 

the requirements or exceed the scope of the motion, it is advisable the questions be 

disclosed to the public at the virtual meeting platform. 

Article 12 The votes cast by the attending shareholders shall be calculated based on the number of 

shares. 

For resolution of a shareholders' meeting, the number of shares held by shareholders 

without voting rights shall not be counted in the total number of issued shares. 

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda item and there is the 

likelihood that such a relationship would prejudice the interests of the Company, that 

shareholder may not vote on that item and may not exercise voting rights as a proxy for 

any other shareholder. 

The number of shares held by shareholders who are not permitted to vote shall be excluded 

from the calculation of total voting rights. 

With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services agent approved by the 

securities competent authority, when one person is concurrently appointed as proxy by 

two or more shareholders, the voting rights represented by that proxy may not exceed 3% 

of the voting rights represented by the total number of issued shares. If that percentage is 

exceeded, the voting rights in excess of that percentage shall not be included in the 

calculation. 

Article 13 A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except when the shares are 

RSAs or are deemed non-voting shares under Paragraph 2, Article 179 of the Company 

Act. 

When the Company holds a shareholders’ meeting, it shall adopt electronic voting rights 

and may adopt correspondence voting rights. The method of exercise shall be specified in 

the shareholders’ meeting notice. Shareholders who have voted in writing or using the 

electronic method are considered to have attended shareholders’ meeting in person. 

Notwithstanding, they are considered to have waived their rights with respect to the 

extempore motions and amendments to original motions of that meeting. Therefore, it is 

advisable that the Company should avoid the submission of extempore motions and 

amendments to original proposals. 

Instructions to exercise written and electronic votes shall be delivered to the Company at 

least 2 days before the shareholder meeting. In the event of duplicate submissions, the 

earliest submission shall be taken into record. However, exception is granted if the 

shareholder issues a proper declaration to withdraw the previous instruction. 

After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by correspondence or electronic means, in 

the event the shareholder intends to attend the shareholders’ meeting in person or a virtual 

shareholders’ meeting, a written declaration of intent to retract the voting rights already 

exercised under the preceding paragraph shall be made known to the Company, by the 

same means by which the voting rights were exercised, within 2 days before the date of 

the shareholders’ meeting. If the notice of retraction is submitted after the due date, the 

voting rights already exercised by correspondence or electronic means shall prevail. When 

a shareholder has exercised voting rights both by correspondence or electronic means and 

by appointing a proxy to attend a shareholders’ meeting, the voting rights exercised by the 

proxy in the meeting shall prevail. 

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company’s Articles of 

Incorporation, the passage of a motion shall require an affirmative vote of a majority of 

the voting rights represented by the attending shareholders. During voting, if the 
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chairperson solicits and receives no dissents, the proposal is deemed passed, with 

equivalent force as a resolution by vote. At the time of a vote, for each motion, the 

chairperson or a person designated by the chairperson shall first announce the total number 

of voting rights represented by the attending shareholders, followed by a poll of the 

shareholders. After the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is held, the results 

for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and against and the number of 

abstentions, shall be entered into the MOPS. 

When there is an amendment or an alternative to a motion, the chairperson shall present 

the amended or alternative proposal together with the original proposal and decide the 

order in which they will be put to a vote. When any one among them is passed, the other 

motions will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall be required. 

The chairperson will appoint a ballot examiner and a ballot counter, provided that the 

ballot examiner must be a shareholder. 

Motion and election votes are to be counted openly at the shareholder meeting. Results of 

the vote, including the final tally, shall be announced on-site and recorded in minutes. 

When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders’ meeting, after the chairperson 

declares the meeting open, shareholders attending the meeting online shall cast votes on 

motions and elections on the virtual meeting platform before the chairperson announces 

the voting session ends, or will be deemed abstained from voting. 

In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, votes shall be counted at once after the 

chairperson announces the voting session ends, and results of votes and elections shall be 

announced immediately. 

When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders' meeting, if shareholders who have 

registered to attend the meeting online in accordance with Article 6 decide to attend the 

physical shareholders’ meeting in person, they shall revoke their registration 2 days before 

the shareholders’ meeting in the same manner as they registered. If their registration is not 

revoked within the time limit, they may only attend the shareholders’ meeting online. 

When shareholders exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronic means, unless 

they have withdrawn the declaration of intent and attended the shareholders’ meeting 

online, except for extempore motions, they will not exercise voting rights on the original 

proposals or make any amendments to the original motions or exercise voting rights on 

amendments to the original motions. 

Article 14 When the shareholders' meeting elects directors, it shall proceed in accordance with the 

regulations for election of directors established by the Company, and shall announce the 

results of the election on the spot, including the name list of elected directors and the 

number of votes with which they were elected, and the name list of directors not elected 

and number of votes they received. 

All ballots used in the above election shall be sealed and signed by the ballot examiner, 

and held in proper custody for at least one year. However, if a shareholder raises a litigious 

claim against the Company in accordance with Article 189 of The Company Act, the 

abovementioned documents shall be retained until the end of the litigation. 

Article 15 The resolutions of the shareholders' meeting shall be recorded in the minutes of meeting, 

signed or sealed by the chairperson, and distributed to each shareholder within 20 days 

after the meeting. The meeting minute referred to in the preceding paragraph may be 

produced and distributed in an electronic form. 

The Company may distribute the meeting minute referred to in the preceding paragraph 

by means of a public announcement made through the MOPS. 

The meeting minute shall accurately record the year, month, day, and place of the meeting, 

the chairperson's full name, the methods by which resolutions were adopted, and a 

summary of the deliberations and their voting results (including the number of voting 

rights), and disclose the number of voting rights won by each candidate in the event of an 

election of directors. The minute shall be retained for the duration of the existence of the 
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Company. 

Where a virtual shareholders’ meeting is convened, in addition to the particulars to be 

included in the meeting minute as described in the preceding paragraph, the start time and 

end time of the shareholders’ meeting, how the meeting is convened, the chairperson's and 

minute recorder's name, and actions to be taken in the event of disruption to the virtual 

meeting platform or participation in the meeting online due to natural disasters, accidents 

or other force majeure events, and how issues are dealt with shall also be included in the 

minute. 

When convening a virtual shareholders’ meeting, in addition to complying with the 

requirements in the preceding paragraph, the Company shall also specify in the meeting 

minute alternative measures available to shareholders with difficulties in attending the 

virtual shareholders’ meeting. 

Article 16 On the day of a shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall compile in the prescribed format 

a statistical statement of the number of shares obtained by solicitors through solicitation, 

the number of shares represented by proxies and the number of shares represented by 

shareholders attending the meeting by correspondence or electronic means, and shall make 

an express disclosure of the same at the place of the shareholders’ meeting. In the event a 

virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall upload the above meeting materials to 

the virtual meeting platform at least 30 minutes before the meeting starts, and keep this 

information disclosed until the end of the meeting. 

During the Company's virtual shareholders’ meeting, when the meeting is called to order, 

the total number of shares represented at the meeting shall be disclosed on the virtual 

meeting platform. The same shall apply whenever the total number of shares represented 

at the meeting and a new tally of votes is released during the meeting. 

If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders’ meeting constitute material information 

under applicable laws or regulations and under the regulations of TWSE/TPEx, the 

Company shall upload the contents of such resolution to the MOPS within the prescribed 

time period. 

Article 17 The service personnel of the shareholders' meeting shall wear identification badges or 

armbands. 

The chairperson may instruct security staff to help maintain order in the meeting. When 

proctors or security personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear 

armbands or identification cards bearing the word “Proctor.” 

The chairperson may stop anyone who attempts to speak using instruments that are not 

provided by the Company. 

If a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and does not obey the chairperson’s 

corrective instructions, and hinders the progress of the meeting and fails to comply, the 

chairperson may direct the proctors or security personnel to ask him or her to leave the 

venue. 

Article 18 When a meeting is in progress, the chairperson may announce a break based on time 

considerations. In the event of a force majeure event, the chairperson may rule the meeting 

temporarily suspended and announce a time when, in view of the circumstances, the 

meeting will be resumed. 

If, before the parliamentary procedure is accomplished in accordance with the agenda 

(including extempore motions), the meeting venue cannot be occupied any longer, 

participants may resolve to continue the meeting at an alternative location. 

Shareholders may also resolve to postpone or resume the meeting within the next 5 days, 

according to Article 182 of The Company Act. 

Article 19 In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall disclose real-time 

results of votes and election immediately after the end of the voting session on the virtual 

meeting platform according to the regulations, and this disclosure shall continue at least 
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15 minutes after the chairperson has announced the meeting adjourned. 

Article 20 When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders’ meeting, both the chairperson and 

minute recorder shall be at the same location, and the chairperson shall declare the address 

of their location when the meeting is called to order. 

Article 21 In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, the Company may offer a simple 

connection test to shareholders prior to the meeting, and provide relevant real-time 

services before and during the meeting to help resolve communication technical issues. 

In the event of a virtual shareholders’ meeting, when declaring the meeting open, the 

chairperson shall also declare, unless under a circumstance where a meeting is not required 

to be postponed to or resumed at another time under Paragraph 4, Article 44-20 of the 

Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies, 

if the virtual meeting platform or participation in the virtual meeting is obstructed due to 

natural disasters, accidents or other force majeure events before the chairperson has 

announced the meeting adjourned, and the obstruction continues for more than 30 minutes, 

the meeting shall be postponed to or resumed on another date within next 5 days, in which 

case Article 182 of the Company Act shall not apply. 

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed as described in the preceding paragraph, 

shareholders not registering to attend the affected virtual shareholders’ meeting shall not 

attend the postponed or resumed session. 

For a meeting to be postponed or resumed under Paragraph 2, the number of shares 

represented by, and voting rights and election rights exercised by the shareholders who 

have registered to participate in the affected shareholders’ meeting and have successfully 

signed in the meeting, but do not attend the postpone or resumed session, at the affected 

shareholders’ meeting, shall be counted towards the total number of shares, number of 

voting rights and number of election rights represented at the postponed or resumed 

session. 

During a postponed or resumed session of a shareholders’ meeting held under Paragraph 

2, no further discussion or resolution is required for proposals for which votes have been 

cast and counted and results have been announced, or the name list of elected directors. 

When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders' meeting, and the meeting cannot 

continue as described in Paragraph 2, if the total number of shares represented at the 

meeting, after deducting those represented by shareholders attending the virtual 

shareholders meeting online, still meets the minimum legal requirement for a shareholders’ 

meeting, then the shareholders’ meeting shall continue, and not postponement or 

resumption thereof under Paragraph 2 is required. 

Under the circumstances where a meeting should continue as in the preceding paragraph, 

the shares represented by shareholders attending the virtual meeting online shall be 

counted towards the total number of shares represented by shareholders present at the 

meeting, provided these shareholders shall be deemed abstaining from voting on all 

motions on meeting agenda of that shareholders’ meeting. 

When postponing or resuming a meeting according to Paragraph 2, the Company shall 

handle the lead-time work based on the date of the original shareholders’ meeting in 

accordance with the requirements listed under Paragraph 7, Article 44-20 of the 

Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies. 

For dates or periods set forth under the latter part of Article 12, Paragraph 3, Article 13 of 

the Regulations Governing the Use of Proxies for Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of 

Public Companies, and Paragraph 2 of Article 44-5, Article 44-15, and Paragraph 1 of 

Article 44-17 of the Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services 

of Public Companies, the Company shall handle the matter based on the date of the 

shareholders meeting that is postponed or resumed under Paragraph 2. 

Article 22 When the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders' meeting, it shall also provide 

appropriate alternative measures available to shareholders who have difficulty taking part 

in the virtual-only shareholders' meeting. 
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Article 23 These Rules shall take effect immediately once approved during a shareholder meeting. 

The same shall apply where these Rules are amended. 
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[Appendix 3] 

FineTek Co., Ltd. 

 Shareholding of All Directors 

1. Minimum number of shares to be held by all Directors and the number of shares held as stated 

in the Roster of Shareholders 

Designation 
Required quantity of shares 

to be held 

Shareholding Registered in 

Roster of Shareholders 

Director 4,383,117 shares 10,715,798 shares 

Note: The share transfer suspension period was from March 29, 2024 to May 27, 2024. 

2. Statement of Shareholdings held by Directors 

Designation Name Date elected 
Number of shares 

(shares) 

Shareholding 

ratio 

(Note) 

Chairman Wu Ching-Teh June 10, 2022 1,094,206 2.00% 

Director Wu Ting-Kuo June 10, 2022 4,273,478 7.80% 

Director Wu Kuei-Yung June 10, 2022 5,147,058 9.39% 

Director Gao Lun-Mao June 10, 2022 201,056 0.37% 

Independent 

Director 
Chien Chun-Chu June 10, 2022 － － 

Independent 

Director 
Wu Chin-Kuang June 10, 2022 － － 

Independent 

Director 
Wu Hsi-He June 10, 2022 － － 

Total 10,715,798 19.56% 

Note: The total number of issued shares of the Company as of the date for suspension of transfer 

of the shareholders' meeting is 54,788,971 ordinary shares. 


